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PENSION SCHEMES ACT 1993, PART X

DETERMINATION BY THE DEPUTY PENSIONS OMBUDSMAN
	Applicant
	:
	Mr J R

	Scheme
	:
	The Principal Civil Service Pension Scheme (PCSPS)

	Respondents
	:

:
	The Scottish Prison Service (SPS) (Employer)
The Cabinet Office (Managers)


MATTERS FOR DETERMINATION 

1. Mr R considers that he has incorrectly been refused ill health retirement under the PCSPS Rules. He also complains that there has been delay in dealing with his case.
2. Some of the issues before me might be seen as complaints of maladministration while others can be seen as disputes of fact or law and indeed, some may be both.  I have jurisdiction over either type of issue and it is not usually necessary to distinguish between them.  This determination should therefore be taken to be the resolution of any disputes of fact or law and/or (where appropriate) a finding as to whether there had been maladministration and if so whether injustice has been caused.

MATERIAL FACTS

3. Mr R was employed by the SPS, as an Operations Manager, at Shotts Prison. He went on sick leave on 2 July 2001, with “work related stress, anxiety and nervous disorder”. Mr R returned to work on 7 August 2001, but went on sick leave again, on 5 September 2001. He received an injury benefit in respect of a “qualifying injury” sustained in July 2001. Mr R returned to work, on a part-time basis, on 31 July 2002 and worked full-time from 26 August 2002. He went on sick leave again, on 25 September 2002, suffering from depression.
4. The SPS had also begun disciplinary action against Mr R. In connection with this, they asked their occupational health advisers (Salus), if Mr R was well enough to attend disciplinary hearings. Dr Lando, an Occupational Health Physician with Salus, wrote to the SPS, on 19 May 2003,
“... The situation as I understand it is that the above Officer is required to continue with the Disciplinary Hearing before any decision regarding his future can be made. At this point I would think it is highly improbable that he will return to any employment within SPS at any point in the future.

...

The effect of matters as described appears to have caused some degree of deterioration in the Officer’s condition though this would appear to have been short lived.

He still does not seem quite as good as he did the last time I saw him in January ...

... he has recently been seeing a Consultant Psychiatrist and Mr [R] himself tells me that the Psychiatrist is of the opinion that he is not fully fit for such a hearing but also will not improve until the hearing is completed ...”

5. Dr Lando wrote to the SPS again, on 30 July 2003, after a disciplinary hearing had been adjourned because Mr R had been too unwell to attend. Dr Lando said,
“The situation is unlikely to change in the foreseeable future, therefore it is improbable that he will reach a stage where he is able to attend and participate fully in such a hearing.

I can confirm that it remains my view that it is highly improbable that he will return to any employment within the Scottish Prison Service at any time in the future.”

6. Dr Lando wrote to the SPS again, on 11 September 2003, concerning Mr R’s attendance at a disciplinary hearing. He also said,

“I confirm that it is highly improbable that he will return to any employment within the Scottish Prison Service at any time in the future. Since his problem is with the Scottish Prison Service as an entity and not with any contractual or operational considerations, there are no adjustments, which could facilitate a return to work.”

7. On 23 October 2003, Mr R’s GP wrote to Dr Lando,

“The diagnosis is depression with anxiety secondary to his job as a Prison Officer. Over the past few years he has been on different antidepressants and the current one is ... Since March 2003 he has been attending Dr Hendry Consultant Psychiatrist ... and recently his consultations have been twice each month. I anticipate if he leaves the Prison Service in a reasonably amicable way his condition will improve considerably.

...

I do not think there is any reasonable adjustment his employer could make to his work or process at this stage or in the foreseeable future which would facilitate his return to work.

...

Under the circumstances I do not anticipate him being able to return to work in the Prison Service in the foreseeable future ...”

8. On 11 November 2003, Dr Hendry wrote to Dr Lando,
“Mr [R] was referred to the Community Psychiatric Nursing Service ... in September 2001. At that time he was diagnosed as suffering from a reactive depressive illness and was treated with antidepressant medication and anxiety management techniques. He has remained in contact with the service since and I have been directly responsible for his care since March 2003. He continues to be prescribed antidepressant medication and to receive supportive psychotherapy.

In my opinion, Mr [R] is suffering from a depressive illness secondary to stress that he experienced in the course of his work. I do not feel that there are any adjustments, which his employers could now make, which would facilitate the return to work and I do believe he is currently incapable of fulfilling the normal duties of employment. I do not believe that I can predict a possible return to work date. However, I would anticipate that Mr [R’s] mental health will improve once there has been a resolution in his current situation with regard to the Scottish Prison Service.”

9. Salus sent Mr R’s papers to BMI, who were, at that time, the PCSPS’ Medical Advisers.

10. BMI issued a “certificate of refusal” on 3 December 2003. In their covering letter, to Dr Lando, they said,

“His consultant psychiatrist and GP ... confirm that they expect Mr [R] to recover from his depressive illness as soon as his relationship with the Scottish Prison Service comes to an end.
In the circumstances, although he remains unfit for his duties, permanent incapacity is not in evidence and the criteria for ill health retirement are not met.”

11. The Prison Staff Association (PSA), acting on Mr R’s behalf, sought clarification from Dr Hendry. He responded, on 12 January 2004,

“Mr [R] first presented ... in October, 2001 when he was diagnosed as suffering from a depressive illness. This responded well to treatment such that he was able to return to work on a part-time basis in July, 2002. Unfortunately, difficulties at work led to a relapse of his depressive illness and he is continuing to receive treatment for this relapse. In my opinion, it has been perpetuated by his ongoing difficulties with the Scottish Prison Service.
I am now of the view that Mr [R] suffers from a recurrent depressive disorder, current episode moderate IC10 category F33.1. I remain of the view that once there has been a resolution in his current situation with regard to the Scottish Prison Service that his symptomatology will lessen and his general sense of wellbeing will increase. However, I do not believe that that will cure his depressive disorder and he will remain at risk of future relapse. It would be my understanding that Mr [R] has suffered a permanent incapacity.”

12. The SPS subsequently decided to postpone the disciplinary hearings and, instead, to determine the future of Mr R’s employment with them through the Civil Service “Managing Absence Procedure”. They held a “Capability Interview” with Mr R and representatives of the PSA, on 15 January 2004. The SPS were represented by the Governor of HMP Greenock. Mr R’s representative has provided me with a copy of the minutes of that interview and drawn my attention to the following comment from the Governor. He is reported as saying,
“... there is a long and complex history to this matter that has led us to this point ... The role I have in the process is the question of the likelihood of [Mr R] returning to work in the SPS in any capacity. The medical evidence is unequivocal that while [Mr R] is connected to the SPS, he is not going to get better ...”
13. The Governor also wrote to Mr R, on 15 January 2004, informing him that, as there appeared to be no reasonable prospect of Mr R returning to work within the foreseeable future, he had decided to terminate his employment. Mr R was informed that he had the right to appeal against this decision.

14. The PSA, on Mr R’s behalf, submitted an appeal under the three stage appeal procedure provided under the Civil Service Management Code (see Appendix). They submitted a copy of Dr Hendry’s report. BMI issued a response on 10 February 2004. They said,
“Dr Hendry’s letter of 12 January 2004 gives his opinion on the state of [Mr R] and describes his condition as recurrent depressive disorder. In the letter of 21 May 2003, he attributes this moderate depressive disorder to a reaction to the stress resulting from the disciplinary action that resulted in the recommendation for dismissal in 2001*. I assume that Dr Hendry’s use of terminology is deliberate when he describes Mr [R’s] condition as recurrent depressive disorder, which means that he is subject to bouts of depression interspersed with bouts of relative normality. As he puts it in his letter “I remain of the view that once there has been a resolution in his current situation with regard to the Scottish Prison Service that his symptomatology will lessen and his general sense of wellbeing will increase”. This is also my understanding of the natural history of reactive and recurrent depressive disorder.

Dr Hendry also goes on to state “However, I do not believe that (presumably this) will cure his depressive disorder and he will remain at risk of future relapse”. For further relapse to occur there has to be a return to something close to normal well being. It is not possible to relapse from a relapsed state only from a state closer to normality. Vulnerability to relapse is not the same as permanent incapacity, which requires the condition to be continuous and unimproved by vigorous treatment according to the rules of the Principal Civil Service Pension Scheme.
As pointed out above, the natural history of this condition would be one of gradual improvement once the principal cause of the initial psychological assault had been removed. I therefore see no reason to change my opinion regarding my recommendation to you that this application for medical retirement be refused on the grounds that Mr [R] is unlikely to continue to suffer from depression for the next twenty-four years as a result of the disciplinary action taken in 2001.”

*Mr R successfully appealed against this decision

15. The case was referred to the second stage of the appeal process, whereupon BMI decided that it should be reverted to stage one because Mr R had not, at that time, had a consultation with a BMI physician as part of the evidence gathering process.
16. Following a consultation, BMI produced a further report on 16 March 2004. The Cabinet Office have been unable to trace a copy of this report. BMI did not uphold Mr R’s appeal. A further appeal was submitted and, following a review of the case, BMI suggested that the case should be considered by an Independent Medical Appeal Board in accordance with stage three of the Civil Service Medical Appeals Procedure.

17. The SPS terminated Mr R’s employment, on 15 April 2004, on the grounds of efficiency.

18. The Appeal Board was originally due to meet on 28 June 2004. There was, however, some disagreement between Mr R’s solicitors (Miller Samuel) and the SPS as to the independence and constitution of the Appeal Board, which resulted in an exchange of correspondence during June and July 2004.

19. The Board was eventually convened on 24 September 2004, and comprised an Accredited Specialist in Occupational Medicine (Dr Beastall) and a Consultant Psychiatrist (Dr Hyde). The Appeal Board reported on 22 October 2004. They confirmed that they had been passed papers relating to Mr R and had interviewed him. Drs Beastall and Hyde stated,
“Mr [R] appears to have been in excellent health, from both a physical and mental health perspective until three years ago.

He dates the deterioration in his mental health to around June 2001, around the time when he had returned to work for a short period following a successful appeal against dismissal from the Prison Service in April of that year. He describes a situation where his suspension from work had essentially “worn him down”. He became unable to deal with day-to-day matters in relation to organisation etc. By early 2002, he felt that his health had deteriorated to the extent that he had, on one occasion, contemplated taking his life. His sleep pattern had become disturbed; he had poor appetite, with resultant loss in weight, and required the intervention of his immediate family to assist with his domestic and personal circumstances.
He managed to return to work in September 2002 but was only in work for a short period when he received notice of further disciplinary allegations. His associated attendance at the Governor’s office apparently led to an outburst on his behalf where he is said to have cause physical damage to the fabric of the prison building. During the time of subsequent sick leave, disciplinary charges were dropped but he was considered both by his medical advisors and the Occupational Health Physician who examined him to be unfit for work, and his employment was finally terminated in April of this year on capability grounds without the benefit of an ill-health pension.

His initial treatment appears to have comprised contact with his General Practitioner, who referred him to the local Community Psychiatric Nurse. The latter advised in due course that he should consider medication, and he was prescribed ... He has subsequently come under the care of a Consultant Psychiatrist who has increased the daily dose ... This seems to be the only form of anti-depressant medication that he has received and we have no evidence that he has been exposed to other potential psychotherapeutic interventions such as cognitive behavioural therapy.

...

Dr Hyde concluded, from the detailed mental state examination undertaken as part of the Appeal process, that he should be regarded as suffering from a recurrent depressive disorder, currently of moderate severity.”
20. Drs Beastall and Hyde said that they had referred to the document entitled “Principal Civil Service Pension Scheme Medical Guidance Notes” (see Appendix). They concluded,
“... we understand that it is for the Appeal Board to decide whether [Mr R] meets the criteria for medical retirement, i.e. that the individual is prevented by ill-health from discharging his duties and that the ill-health is likely to be permanent.

In considering the various elements:-

4.1 Prevented is understood to mean having a significant incapacity. Both members of the Appeal Board are entirely satisfied that as a consequence of Mr [R’s] depressive state, he demonstrates a significant incapacity. No employment adjustments appear to have been considered to date as Mr [R] has been considered to be unfit for all forms of work.
4.2 Ill-health is understood to mean a recognised medical condition. In the opinion of the Appeal Board, Mr [R] suffers from a depressive disorder and this illness of the only cause for his present incapacity.

4.3 Discharging his duties is understood to mean providing regular and efficient service in the normal duties of his grade. Individuals have to be incapable of providing acceptable levels of performance or attendance. We are advised that the inability to work in a particular place would not be grounds for determining incapacity and, hence, medical retirement.

Currently Mr [R] is unfit to return to the duties of his grade, and the Board consider that it is unlikely that Mr [R] will be able to provide regular and efficient service if he were to return to his duties in Shotts Prison, Glasgow, and in contact with those members of the [SPS] which has led to the breakdown in relations between Mr [R] and his employer following the provoking event which appears to have taken place in 1999 when he gave evidence to the Scottish Parliament.
4.4 Likely is understood to mean “on the balance of probabilities”. Permanence of the ill-health does not have to be “beyond reasonable doubt”, but rather more likely than not.

The natural history of an affective disorder is one of recovery. The Board considered that Mr [R] will make a recovery from his present depressive illness and, therefore, the permanence of his health has not been established to be “rather more likely than not”. It was felt that the breakdown of the relationship between the employee and employer against the background of disciplinary action, suspension and eventual dismissal had led to a situation where such factors would make it unlikely that he could return to a job in the same prison. This is not the same, however, as implying that his current ill-health, which is expected to improve, would prevent him working in due course as an Operations Manager per se.

The Board also considered that currently Mr [R] has had limited treatment for his present psychiatric problems and, therefore, the prognosis in relation to his future occupational capability could only be more formally assessed when he had had the benefit of further treatments which might include other anti-depressant therapies and psychotherapeutic interventions.

4.5 Permanent we understand to mean until normal retirement age. The Board is not currently satisfied that the ill-health is permanent, nor that it will result in permanent incapacity from the duties of an Operations Manager in the [SPS].

On that basis, the Board conclude that his appeal for medical retirement should be denied.”

21. BMI notified Dr Lando of the Appeal Board’s decision. A copy of BMI’s letter was sent to Mr R.

22. Following the Appeal Board Review, the PSA sought further advice from Dr Hendry. He responded, on 14 February 2005,

“From my reading of the letter of instruction and the report of the Medical Review, there does appear to be an agreement that Mr [R] has been suffering from a recurrent depressive illness since June 2001. The Appeal Board agrees that this constitutes ill health that is preventing him from discharging his duties. The only point in which I would disagree with the Review Board’s findings is on whether his illness is likely to be permanent.
I would agree with the Medical Review if Mr [R] is suffering from a single depressive episode. If this was the case, one would anticipate complete recovery and it would be appropriate to recommend alternative treatment. However, I note that Dr Hyde ... expressed the view that Mr [R] suffered from a recurrent depressive order and not a single depressive episode.

Mr [R’s] initial episode of illness in 2001, responded to treatment with ... and under these circumstances, I believe that this continues to be the most appropriate form of maintenance treatment. I have considered the use of trials of antidepressant but believe that prescription of selective seratonin re-uptake inhibitors (SSRIs) would be inappropriate given their reported potential to precipitate acts of self-harm or harm to others.

It is the case that Mr [R] has not received formal Cognitive Behavioural Therapy but ... the Community Psychiatric Nurse ... and myself have used standard Cognitive Behavioural techniques as part of a more eclectic psychotherapeutic approach.
I am further of the opinion that while more formal Cognitive Behavioural Therapy may reduce the severity of some of Mr [R’s] current symptomatology, this would not cure the disorder that the Appeal Board found him to be suffering from ...”

23. Mr R then submitted an appeal under the separate Internal Dispute Resolution (IDR) procedure.

24. In response to Mr R’s IDR appeal, BMI’s Dr Stuckey, in a letter dated 10 August 2005, made the following points:

24.1. He did not accept that the Independent Medical Appeal Board had erred in the relevant diagnosis since there appeared to be agreement that Mr R had a recurrent depressive disorder.
24.2. The Independent Medical Appeal Board members were entitled to have their opinion on modes of treatment, although that treatment was only instituted by the treating specialist or the general practitioner.

24.3. The Appeal Board’s comments were linked to and related to the Scheme criteria and the interpretation of the criteria detailed in the medical guidance notes.

24.4. The medical guidance notes* indicated that individuals with Mr R’s symptoms are expected to have undergone full investigation and treatment without effect before medical retirement is considered.

*In the section concerning the process of considering a member for medical retirement, the notes state,

“Psychiatric cases must have been fully investigated and treated without effect before medical retirement can be considered. All cases should be supported by at least one report from a consultant psychiatrist. Like for other types of illness, evidence of the employment adjustments made to facilitate effective working and documentation demonstrating the failure of such initiatives should also be provided.”
24.5. The Board expressed the opinion that Mr R had had only limited treatment for his psychiatric problems and, since other treatment options remained, it would be premature to conclude that his was a permanent incapacity. Dr Hendry, in his report of February 2005, appeared to accept that the treatment regimes suggested by the Appeal Board had not been utilised, but went on to comment on the likely impact of that treatment.

24.6. Dr Lando had expressed the view that it was highly improbable that Mr R would return to any employment within the SPS at any time in the future. His statement was not necessarily incompatible with the inability to recommend support for medical retirement. There were aspects other than medical factors that could mitigate (sic) against any return to work. Mr R had a negative perspective of the SPS and, irrespective of any medical aspects of the case, he could well have decided that he no longer had a future with the organisation. It could well have been, at least initially, that the primary cause of the inability to discharge his duties was the dispute with his employer and that ultimately psychological symptoms developed.

24.7. He did not consider that the original refusal notice was issued in error. Dr Roberts was an experienced Accredited Specialist Occupational Physician and an approved Pension Scheme Adviser. The most recent evidence, at the time, was a report from Dr Hendry, dated 11 November 2003, in which he stated that Mr R was not fit for work, that adjustments would not facilitate a return to work and that he could not predict a possible return to work date. Dr Hendry stated that he anticipated that Mr R’s mental health would improve once there had been a resolution in the situation with regard to the SPS. Dr Roberts, therefore, applied the pension scheme criteria correctly.
24.8. When the case was passed to him, for a Stage II review, he noted that Mr R had not had a consultation with a BMI physician. He reverted the case to Stage I and ensured that Mr R was offered a consultation. Mr R had a consultation with a Dr Saravolac, who was unable to support the application for medical retirement on the grounds that it was premature to conclude that Mr R was permanently incapacitated.
24.9. He was content that the Stage I appeals procedure was completed in the appropriate manner and that Dr Saravolac applied the pension scheme rules appropriately.

24.10. The statement, by the Appeal Board, that they had been advised that the inability to work in a particular place would not be grounds for determining incapacity and medical retirement, was taken from the medical guidance notes.
24.11. The Board have accepted that Mr R is unlikely to be able to provide regular and efficient service if he were to return to his duties at Shotts Prison and in contact with those officers of the SPS, who were involved in the breakdown of relations between Mr R and his employer. The Board advised that Mr R’s health should improve sufficiently so that he would not be prevented from working, as an Operations Manager, elsewhere in the SPS.
24.12. If it were to be argued that, if Mr R were to work elsewhere for the SPS, he would still come in contact with those officers of the SPS, who were involved in the breakdown of relations between Mr R and his employer, the logic would be that he would satisfy the criteria for medical retirement. The Appeal Board have had to make certain assumptions on what is essentially an employment matter, rather than a medical matter.

24.13. The Board did not accept that Mr R’s ill health was permanent or that it would result in permanent incapacity. This appeared contradictory to earlier statements, but he assumed that the Board considered that, should Mr R recover, he would have some vulnerability to recurrence of his symptoms and that contact with the individuals mentioned would be most likely to provoke this.

24.14. Dr Hendry’s February 2005 report was not relevant to the consideration of this case under the IDR procedure. These procedures were not intended to provide for a reconsideration of the medical evidence on the basis of new evidence, but to review the evidence that already existed and the decision making process applied to that evidence. However, the report did appear to confirm that Mr R would have some continuing vulnerability to recurrence of symptoms, particularly in certain circumstances.
24.15. He did not accept that the handling of the case had been unreasonably delayed. There was some delay in completing Stage I of the appeal procedure because Mr R should have been offered a consultation when his appeal application was first received. However, at a later stage, Mr R failed to attend the initial Appeal Board. It transpired that this was because of concerns about the independence and constitution of the Board. As a result, a further Appeal Board, with different members, had to be contracted and this did not take place until September 2004.
25. Dr Stuckey concluded,

“In summary, my opinion is that the original advice and consideration at Stage I of the Civil Service Medical Appeals procedure applied the pension scheme criteria appropriately and in line with current good medical practice. At Stage II I determined a reasonable cause for appeal was made, but there was insufficient evidence to uphold the appeal. The Appeal Board have also applied the rules reasonably but make certain assumptions in respect of the likelihood of Mr [R] coming across certain SPS representatives if he worked away from Shotts Prison. The issue is essentially non medical and if the assumption is incorrect, the Appeal Board’s other reasoning may lead you to support medical retirement.”

26. The SPS were also asked to comment, but said that they had no comment to make.

27. The Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) issued a Stage 1 IDR decision on 30 August 2005. They did not uphold Mr R’s complaint and gave the following reasons:

27.1. BMI were of the opinion that the Medical Appeal Board had interpreted the pension scheme rules in an appropriate manner.

27.2. The Board had not accepted that Mr R’s ill health was permanent or would result in permanent incapacity from the duties of an Operations Manager.

27.3. BMI did not accept that the Board had erred in the relevant diagnosis or that there was a lack of transparency in the procedure.

27.4. BMI noted that there were aspects other than medical factors, which could militate against a return to work.

27.5. BMI were of the opinion that the procedures had been appropriately followed and that there had been no unreasonable delay. Mr R had failed to attend the initial Appeal Board.

27.6. Dr Lando had reviewed the case and could see no reason to dispute the decision of the tribunal.

27.7. The SPS had seen copies of Mr R’s appeal and BMI’s reply. They had no further comments.
28. Mr R submitted a Stage 2 appeal under the IDR procedure. The Cabinet Office issued their decision on 30 May 2006 and did not uphold Mr R’s appeal. They made the following points:

28.1. Members may apply for medical retirement or employing departments and agencies can put their staff forward for medical retirement. Either way, BMI must issue a medical retirement certificate (MRC) before retirement can proceed. If BMI issue an MRC, it is for the employer to decide whether or not to retire the member. If BMI do not find that the member meets the criteria for medical retirement, they will issue a refusal certificate.

28.2. The Medical Guidance Notes set out the type of evidence required in each case. In mental health cases, the evidence must show a full investigation of the member’s condition. It must also show that the member has undergone treatment without effect before BMI can consider medical retirement. All cases involving mental health should have the support of at least one report from a Consultant Psychiatrist.

28.3. In accordance with the Civil Service Management Code, the PCSPS has a three stage appeals process (separate from the IDR procedure) (see Appendix).

28.4. At stage one, the doctor who made the original decision will consider whether that decision was sound and consider any new medical evidence. At stage two, a different doctor will consider the case. If BMI remain uncertain, i.e. the evidence is so finely balanced that they could argue the case either way, they will refer the case to an independent appeal board.

28.5. When considering a case involving medical retirement, the Cabinet Office will only look at whether the employer and BMI carried out the process correctly. They have no power to substitute their lay opinion for the expert view of BMI or other medical practitioners.

28.6. The crux of Mr R’s complaint concerns the conduct of the Appeal Board. He contends that they assumed that he could carry out his duties anywhere within the SPS, other than Shotts. He argues that they did not take into account the fact that he suffers from a permanent condition, the root cause of which lies with the SPS as an entity, not just certain staff within the SPS. Mr R has referred to the assumption that he was unlikely to come across certain members of the SPS if he returned to work elsewhere. He contends that the Board relied on this assumption in refusing him medical retirement and, if they had not done so, they would have decided in his favour.
28.7. BMI had been asked for clarification and had made the following points:

· Their reference to the assumption should not be read in isolation.

· The Board had not said that they had relied on this assumption in reaching their decision.

· The word ‘conclusion’, rather than ‘assumption’, might be more apposite.

· The Board had reached the conclusion, that Mr R would be able to return to work elsewhere in the SPS, whilst aware that he considered his problems to be with the whole of the SPS.

· A more significant factor in the Board’s findings was the prognosis for Mr R’s condition. They had found that the natural history of an affective disorder was one of recovery.

28.8. They did not consider that procedural errors had affected the outcome of Mr R’s appeal. There had been a procedural error at stage one of the appeal process (in that Mr R had not had a consultation), but this had been corrected.

28.9. BMI and the Appeal Board had properly considered all the information that the SPS, Salus and Mr R had made available. After considering the evidence, the Board had reached a decision, which neither BMI, the DWP nor the Cabinet Office could alter.
28.10. Some of the medical evidence may have conflicted, but it was for the Board to decide which evidence they give most weight to. In such circumstances, a decision, which favours one view, may look as if it ignored others.

28.11. The Appeal Board’s decision did not hinge solely on Mr R’s ability to work at a particular location. Other medical factors, such as treatment options and the natural progression of his condition, were clearly significant.

28.12. Miller Samuel had argued that BMI and the Appeal Board had ignored the fact that Mr R’s application for an injury benefit had been successful. Whilst the cause of an illness is relevant for injury benefit claims, it is irrelevant for medical retirement.

28.13. Mr R’s case was finely balanced, but, ultimately, he had insufficient medical evidence to tip the scales in his favour. He might well have undergone further treatment since the Appeal Board considered his case. If he has been unfortunate enough not to have derived any benefit from further treatment, he might now have the evidence to show that he meets the medical retirement criteria. If so, he could apply for the early payment of his deferred benefits.

SUBMISSIONS

On Behalf of Mr R

29. Miller Samuel submit:

29.1. Mr R is dissatisfied with every stage of the appeal/IDR process, believing that it has been biased against him from the very start.
29.2. The SPS, DWP and the Cabinet Office have failed to look at all the medical information in relation to his appeal. They have ignored the opinions of his treating psychiatrist, the Community Psychiatric Nurse and Dr Lando.

29.3. A fatal flaw in dealing with Mr R’s appeal is that they have rejected it on the basis of an incorrect assumption as to whether or not he could return to work and provide regular and efficient service in the normal duties of his grade.

29.4. There was also delay in dealing with Mr R’s claim.

29.5. It is Mr R’s contention that the Appeal Board made dangerous assumptions with regards to his fitness for work and the permanency of his condition. The medical evidence from the treating GP, psychiatrist and Dr Lando states that Mr R would be unable to render effective service and this was a permanent condition. For example, in his letter of 30 July 2003, Dr Lando said,

“I can confirm that it remains my view that it is highly improbable that he will return to any employment within The Scottish Prison Service at any time in the future.”

29.6. Dr Stuckey set out the reasons for the Appeal Board’s refusal, in his letter of 10 August 2005. In particular, he said,

“In summary, my opinion is that the original advice and consideration at Stage I of the Civil Service Medical Appeals procedure applied the pension scheme criteria appropriately and in line with current good medical practice. At Stage II I determined a reasonable cause for appeal was made, but there was insufficient evidence to uphold the appeal. The Appeal Board have also applied the rules reasonably but make certain assumptions in respect of the likelihood of Mr [R] coming across certain SPS representatives if he worked away from Shotts Prison. The issue is essentially non medical and if the assumption is incorrect, the Appeal Board’s other reasoning may lead you to support medical retirement.”
29.7. This statement is critical to Mr R’s appeal. It clearly demonstrates that the Appeal Board has misunderstood Mr R’s condition and, in particular, the permanence of his condition and have wrongly applied the PCSPS Rules in relation to medical retirement.

29.8. The Appeal Board has assumed that Mr R would be able to work elsewhere, other than Shotts Prison, for the SPS. This is not the case, as was stated by Dr Lando, in his letter of 11 September 2003 (see paragraph 6).
29.9. Had the relevant evidence been taken into account in respect of Mr R’s inability to work at any location for the SPS, then the only sustainable conclusion that could have been reached was that he qualified for medical retirement.

29.10. The SPS did not comment on Dr Stuckey’s letter of 10 August 2005 and the DWP did not pursue this. If the SPS had been required to comment, they would have had to have admitted that the assumption, by the Appeal Board, was incorrect. This would have led to a different outcome.

29.11. Mr R meets the requirement that he be suffering from a recognised medical condition, which gives rise to, and is the only cause of, his incapacity; the diagnosis of which is supported by appropriate clinical findings.

29.12. The SPS have already established that Mr R is unable to discharge regular duties and they have dismissed him on the grounds of capability. In the minutes of the meeting, on 15 January 2004, and in his subsequent letter, the Governor stated that the evidence was clear that there was no likelihood of Mr R returning to work for the SPS in any capacity.
29.13. The Guidance Notes state that the “inability to work in a particular place would not ... be grounds for determining an incapacity ...”. It is perhaps to this sentence that the Appeal Board have referred, when deciding not to uphold Mr R’s appeal. They have wrongly assumed that, if Mr R were to not to return to Shotts Prison, he would be able to render effective service. This is not the case.

29.14. The Appeal Board found that Mr R had not shown that he could not carry out the work of an Operations Manager per se. This is a further example of a fundamental miscomprehension of the PCSPS Rules. The test is whether Mr R can carry out these duties within the present SPS and he is unable to do so.

29.15. The Appeal Board and the DWP (at stage one of the IDR procedure) failed to consider whether it was “more likely than not” that Mr R would be able to return to work. The medical evidence (from Dr Hendry and Dr Lando) indicated that he would not.

29.16. Dr Hendry and Dr Lando have stated that Mr R’s condition is permanent. It was for this reason that it was recommended that he be dismissed on the grounds of capability.

29.17. The Cabinet Office (in their stage two IDR decision) said that Mr R’s case was finely balanced. However, no-one has looked beyond the decisions made by the SPS and BMI. It would have been wholly appropriate and essential to contact Dr Hendry to confirm the medical evidence. If there was insufficient evidence, clarification should have been sought and the Cabinet Office were best placed to do so.
29.18. The onus to obtain appropriate medical evidence is on the employer. If there was a gap in the evidence or further explanations were required, it would be for the employer or the PCSPS medical advisers to obtain such.

29.19. The Cabinet Office have said that they would not overturn a decision, under the IDR procedure, where the Appeal Board has determined that there is no permanent incapacity. If this is the case, there was no point Mr R appealing because the appeal would be refused in any event. This is a flaw in the system, which is not only detrimental to Mr R, but to others seeking to appeal such a decision under the IDR procedure.

29.20. In retaining two sets of medical advisers, the SPS has created a potential for unfairness and this is the case for him.

29.21. The only way to rectify the procedural and administrative flaws in the process, and address the substantive unfairness in this case, is to afford Mr R a further opportunity to present his case through a fresh application, untainted by actual an apparent bias.

By the Cabinet Office

30. The Cabinet Office submit:

30.1. The decision whether or not to medically retire a member rests with their employer. Employers cannot, however, proceed without a medical certificate, as required by Rule 1.12 (see Appendix).

30.2. The PCSPS has a separate appeals process to consider the decision to issue a medical certificate or not. Under the IDR procedure, neither they nor the DWP could substitute their own opinion for that of the Appeal Board. They cannot, therefore, overturn a decision not to issue a medical certificate; they can only look at the procedural issues. This includes whether the Appeal Board have addressed the right questions and considered all the available evidence and whether the appellant has had the time and opportunity to submit evidence to support their appeal.
30.3. The outcome of the medical appeals procedure is final. The IDR procedure is not a means for members to have the medical adviser’s decision in the medical retirement certificate reconsidered. It follows that it is not appropriate to consider new medical evidence presented under the IDR procedure.
30.4. The medical appeal procedure allows members at least six months to submit evidence to support their appeal. There has to be a closing point somewhere. It is unreasonable not to accept that this is at the conclusion of the medical appeal procedure.

30.5. The SPS did not dismiss Mr R against the criteria under the Rule 1.12. Neither his dismissal nor the cause of his ill-health is relevant to the question of medical retirement.

30.6. They do not agree that either they or the DWP have shown any bias against Mr R. The fact that the outcome of the IDR procedure was not in his favour does not demonstrate maladministration.

30.7. It is for the PCSPS medical advisers to assess the medical evidence. The administrative role of the SPS, the DWP and the Cabinet Office is to ensure that they have properly considered all the available evidence in accordance with the correct procedures.

30.8. They did identify one failure in the procedure, i.e. that Mr R had not been offered a consultation at stage one of the appeal procedure, but this had already been identified and remedied. They found no evidence that the procedure was flawed such that re-opening the medical appeal would have been justified.

30.9. The Appeal Board is entirely independent of the PCSPS medical advisers. BMI were asked to comment on the Appeal Board’s report. Dr Stuckey’s comments suggested that the Appeal Board had made an assumption about Mr R’s future employment within the SPS. Mr R has taken this single comment (from a five page report) to support his claims that the Appeal Board had misunderstood his condition and its permanency and had misapplied the PCSPS Rules. BMI explained that the word ‘assumption’ was theirs and did not appear in the Appeal Board’s report. They are satisfied, therefore, that the Appeal Board did not make “assumptions” in reaching the conclusion that Mr R did not satisfy the criteria under Rule 1.12.
30.10. They agree that this was not fully investigated by the SPS or the DWP, but this was remedied at the second stage of the IDR procedure.

30.11. They refer to their conclusions at the second stage of the IDR procedure (see paragraph 28).

30.12. They have seen no evidence to suggest that BMI’s decision was based on irrelevant information or that it was perverse. They have seen nothing to suggest that the Appeal Board failed to consider all the evidence before them, or that they considered anything irrelevant or reached a perverse decision. They saw no reason to query the Appeal Board’s decision simply because of a conflict of views.
30.13. The misunderstanding over the use of the word “assumption”, in BMI’s letter of 10 August 2005, came during the first stage of the IDR procedure. It was not, therefore, a misunderstanding which arose during the medical appeals procedure and does not justify reopening Mr R’s case. The misunderstanding was remedied by asking Dr Stuckey to clarify his comment. They were satisfied with his explanation.
30.14. It is not clear why it is felt that there is any ambiguity within the medical opinions offered by BMI or the Appeals Board. They do not agree that any ambiguity which subsequently arose during the IDR procedure should justify reopening the medical appeal.

30.15. The medical guidance notes require that a condition is fully investigated and treated without effect before permanence is established. The medical adviser must, therefore, take into account if there are any untried treatment options available for the condition, which could have a beneficial effect. The medical adviser will only have in mind treatments that are appropriate to the condition. If they have evidence that a possibly beneficial but untried treatment is not likely to be suitable for the member, they will take this into account. However, this may be another area where there is a conflict of medical opinion.

30.16. During the appeal process, it is for the appellant to source, fund and provide supporting medical evidence. It is not for the employer, the PCSPS medical advisers or the Appeal Board to seek further reports from treating physicians. This is explained in the Medical Guidance Notes, of which Mr R had a copy.
30.17. Where they do find flaws in the medical appeal process, they can determine that the case be reconsidered by a second Appeal Board.

30.18. They have seen no evidence of bias on the part of BMI and/or the Appeal Board. As occupational health specialists, BMI had a duty to give unbiased advice regarding a member’s entitlement to medical retirement and there was no reason for them to act any differently in Mr R’s case. BMI referred Mr R’s case to an Appeal Board. Members do not have an automatic right to have their appeal considered by an Appeal Board; referral would be determined by BMI on the strength of the medical evidence. The fact that BMI referred Mr R’s case to the Appeal Board defies any contention of bias on their part. The Appeal Board included a Consultant Psychiatrist, i.e. a specialist in the field of medicine appropriate to Mr R’s condition. This, again, defies any contention of bias in the process.
30.19. The Governor, in the minutes and letter of 15 January 2004, was expressing a management view rather than a professional medical view against the PCSPS criteria for medical retirement.
30.20. As they do not agree that the process was flawed, they do not agree that Mr R should be allowed the opportunity to make a fresh application for medical retirement. This would be unfair to other members who have unsuccessfully appealed for medical retirement.

30.21. Having carefully considered Mr R’s case under the IDR procedure, they found that, although it was a finely balanced decision, it was within the “margin of appreciation” that should be allowed to the decision maker.

CONCLUSIONS

31. Medical retirement under the PCSPS (Classic) requires a certificate to the effect that the member is permanently prevented from discharging his duties by ill-health. That certificate must be acceptable to the Minister and, although the Rules do not specifically require it, is provided by the medical advisers to the PCSPS. At the time Mr R’s case was under consideration, this was BMI or the Appeal Board.
32. The Cabinet Office will, no doubt, be pleased to hear that I agree with their assertion that it is not for them to substitute a lay opinion for the expert medical opinion provided by their medical advisers. Their role (and that of the SPS and the DWP) was to ensure that BMI and the Appeal Board had access to and had considered all relevant evidence, but did not consider any irrelevant matters. They needed to ensure that BMI and the Appeal Board asked the right questions, understood the Rules and did not come to a perverse decision. If they considered that the decision reached by the medical advisers was flawed for any of these reasons, it was open to them to remit it for reconsideration. In order to fulfil this role, the SPS, DWP and the Cabinet Office needed to review the medical evidence and to seek clarification where necessary and appropriate.
33. It is Mr R’s contention that the Appeal Board were incorrect in taking the view that he would be able to return to work, provided he was not required to work at Shotts Prison or come into contact with certain SPS officers. He relies on Dr Lando’s reports of May, July and September 2003, and the remarks from the Governor in January 2004.

34. It is not uncommon for there to be conflict between the various medical opinions expressed in relation to a particular case. Provided that they are satisfied that their medical advisers have considered all the relevant evidence, asked the right questions, understood the Rules and have not reached a perverse decision, there would be no requirement for the SPS, DWP or the Cabinet Office to query the decision simply because of a conflict of views. If there was ambiguity in the medical advisers’ decision, or the evidence upon which the decision was based was incomplete, then I would expect this to be clarified either by the employer, in the first instance, or during the appeal/IDR procedure.
35. Mr R’s concern is with the “assumption” the Appeal Board were said to have made concerning his employment within the SPS. The Appeal Board, themselves, found that it was unlikely that Mr R would be able to return to work at Shotts Prison, but that this did not mean that he was permanently unfit to discharge the duties of an Operations Manager within the SPS per se. Clarification was sought from BMI, but it may have been better if the Appeal Board, themselves, had been asked for clarification. It was, after all, Dr Stuckey who introduced the notion of the assumption on the part of the Appeal Board, which has since caused such concern. The SPS, too, should have been asked to clarify whether the circumstances in which the Appeal Board apparently envisaged Mr R’s return to work were plausible.
36. Dr Stuckey also pointed out that the Appeal Board also felt that Mr R had only had limited treatment for his condition. He referred to the Medical Guidance Notes (see Appendix) and the expectation that members suffering from psychiatric illness will have had their condition “fully investigated and treated without effect”. There is the suggestion that the mere presence of untried treatment options is enough to prevent a condition (particularly a psychiatric condition) from being deemed permanent. However, the potential efficacy of those options is also a key factor in assessing the permanence of a condition. It seems to me that the Notes do not adequately reflect the true position. The, albeit difficult, requirement is that the question of permanency is asked and answered. It is not enough to say, in effect, we don’t know because there are untried treatments. The likely outcome of those treatments has to be a key consideration and the Notes appear deficient in this respect.
37. Dr Stuckey suggested that Dr Hendry’s February 2005 report was not relevant, because the IDR procedures were not intended to provide for a reconsideration of the medical assessment on the basis of new evidence, but to review the evidence that already existed. I acknowledge that the PCSPS has two “appeal” procedures applicable to medical retirement cases: the three step process under the CSM Code and the IDR procedure. Whilst it might be preferable for additional medical evidence to be considered under the former rather than the latter, I am not convinced that it is appropriate to set aside relevant evidence simply because it is presented at a later stage of what is, essentially, an appeal relating to the same decision. In effect, the approach suggested by the Cabinet Office requires the decision makers under the IDR procedure to close their eyes to any “medical” evidence that is submitted at that stage. It seems to me that this is to lose sight of the overarching purpose behind both processes, i.e. to establish whether a member is eligible for a benefit. 
38. Dr Hendry’s comments as to the efficacy of CBT in Mr R’s case are relevant to the consideration of his eligibility for medical retirement and should have been given due consideration.
39. On the question of permanence, there is also the matter of whether vulnerability to relapse can be considered a permanent incapacity. BMI expressed the view, in their report of 10 February 2004, that vulnerability to relapse should not be considered the same as permanent incapacity. They suggested that the condition needed to be continuous and unimproved by vigorous treatment, according to the rules of the PCSPS. In fact, the Rules require that the member is “prevented by ill health from discharging his duties, and that his ill health is likely to be permanent”. It may well be the case that a member may recover to a greater or lesser degree once removed from his duties. If, however, it were the case that any resumption of those duties would lead to a relapse, the member would be permanently prevented from discharging those duties by his ill health. It may help to consider an example based on a physical condition, such as a back problem. If the member’s duties involved heavy lifting or continuous bending, a return to duties would be likely to trigger a resumption of his back problems even if, whilst away from those duties, he had achieved a measure of relief. In such circumstances, it would be reasonable to say that he would be permanently prevented from discharging his duties by his back condition.
40. If, as the Cabinet Office have suggested, it was felt that this was a finely balanced decision, one might ask whether it would be more appropriate for the “margin of appreciation”, the benefit of the doubt, to favour the member rather than the decision maker.

41. I find that there were ambiguities and misunderstandings within the medical opinions offered by BMI and the Appeal Board, such that the case should have been remitted to them for reconsideration. That this was not done at any stage of the medical appeal or IDR procedures is maladministration and I am upholding this part of Mr R’s complaint.
42. Mr R has also suggested that there was bias in the consideration of his case. I have seen no evidence of bias and I am inclined to support the view proffered by the Cabinet Office, that the fact that the outcome is not favourable to the applicant is not evidence of bias.
43. On the matter of delay, I note that Mr R’s case was referred back to stage one of the appeal process and that there was some further delay in setting up the Appeal Board. The latter arising, as much as anything, out of representations made on Mr R’s behalf. I am not minded to find that such delay that did occur amounts to maladministration.

DIRECTIONS

44. I now direct that, within 21 days of the date hereof, the Cabinet Office will remit the case to the PCSPS’ medical advisers for reconsideration.
CHARLIE GORDON

Deputy Pensions Ombudsman

27 February 2008
APPENDIX

PCSPS Rules – Section II (Classic)

45. Rule 1.12 states,

“Retirement on medical grounds’ means retirement from the Civil Service with a medical certificate acceptable to the Minister, which states that the person concerned is prevented by ill health from discharging his duties, and that his ill health is likely to be permanent.”

46. Rule 3.4 states,
“(i) Subject to rules 3.6, 3.7 and 3.24d, a civil servant ... who is retired on medical grounds and who would qualify for a pension under rule 3.1 or a preserved pension under rules 3.11 or 3.24a will be paid an ill health pension and lump sum ...”

Medical Guidance Notes

47. The Cabinet Office produce a set of “Medical Guidance Notes”. These state,

“3.3 The criteria for medical retirement in classic are that an individual is prevented by ill health from discharging his/her duties and that the ill health is likely to be permanent.
3.4 The scheme requires these criteria to be applied robustly but fairly by the scheme medical adviser.
Prevented means having a significant incapacity. It does not mean “unwilling”, “disinclined to “ or “inconvenient to” undertake the duty. The expectation is that occupational health advice will have been obtained to identify any employment adjustments in order to overcome the obstacles to working, and that the individual will have co-operated with this. Only if the employing organisation concludes that such adjustments are on balance unreasonable or unfeasible to implement should medical retirement be considered. Collusion between employer and employee to manipulate the pension scheme is considered fraud.


Ill Health means a recognised medical condition which gives rise to the incapacity. Diagnosis must be supported by appropriate clinical findings. The illness must be the only cause of the incapacity.


Discharging his/her duties means providing regular and efficient service in the normal duties of that grade. This relates specifically to the job for which the individual is employed rather than all work. Similarly, individuals do not have to be incapable of attending work but rather incapable of providing acceptable levels of performance or attendance. What is ‘acceptable’ is governed by the requirement to make reasonable adjustments for this with health problems and, particularly if they are likely to fall within the scope of the Disability Discrimination Act 1995. Civil Servants may be classed as being in a ‘mobile’ or ‘non-mobile’ grade or responsibility level. Mobility in this context is effectively a contractual obligation to work at any given location of the employer. The inability to work in a particular place would not, therefore, be grounds for determining an incapacity and hence medical retirement.

Likely means ‘on balance of probabilities’. The permanence of the ill-health does not have to be ‘beyond reasonable doubt’ but rather more likely than not. The effect of treatment is taken into account when considering the incapacitating effects of a condition, but only standard treatments currently widely available in the UK are to be considered and the chances of a successful outcome is taken into account. Scheme members should not be pressured by the employer into taking novel or risky treatments on the basis that pension scheme benefits will otherwise not be considered.


Permanent means until normal retirement age ... Not only does the ill-health have to be permanent but it has to result in permanent incapacity from the duties in question. Many permanent conditions (e.g. Asthma, Diabetes, Epilepsy, etc) do not normally prevent individuals from working normally.


The Civil Service Management Code

48. The Civil Service Management Code (the CSM Code) provides that,

“Departments and agencies may retire staff early on medical grounds.  Staff may also apply for medical retirement.  A medical certificate must be issued in each case by the medical service's adviser appointed by the Cabinet Office (OPS) for provisions relating to the PCSPS, before retirement can go ahead. … The criteria for medical retirement, that the breakdown in health is such that it prevents the person from carrying out his or her duties and that the ill-health is likely to be permanent, are therefore set by Civil Service Pensions Division, Cabinet Office (OPS) on the advice of their medical advisers.”

49. The CSM Code sets out a procedure for dealing with appeals in respect of a decision not to allow medical retirement, or to apply compulsory retirement, as the case may be.  Details are set out in the Pensions Manual.

50. The CSM Code is issued under the authority of the Civil Service Order in Council, which provides that the Minister may make Regulations and give instructions for controlling the conduct of the Service including the making and amendment of the CSM Code.

51. The CSM Code and Pensions Manual set out a three stage process for dealing with such appeals:

51.1. At the first stage, the member submits new medical evidence in support of his case to his employing department. This is then forwarded on to the Scheme’s medical adviser together with the documentation submitted for the initial decision. A senior physician will then examine this documentation to determine whether the original decision should be maintained or overturned.

51.2. At the second stage, the member’s appeal will be forwarded to the medical adviser’s Director of Occupational Health for consideration as to whether the procedural and professional elements have been properly applied in the original decision. If the original decision is not overturned, the case may be prepared for a Medical Appeal Board, which constitutes the third stage.

51.3. At the third stage, the member will be examined by an independent medical practitioner, normally a specialist in the appropriate field, before meeting with the Chair of the Board and the practitioner, after which a final decision will be made.

52. The CSM Code provides, in respect of appeals,

“Appeals

11.10.4
Staff who have additional medical evidence supporting their case have a right of appeal first to the medical services adviser appointed by the Cabinet Office (OPS) for provisions relating to the PCSPS and then to an independent Medical Board convened by the adviser against:

a. a decision to retire them on medical grounds; or

b. a refusal to retire them on medical grounds.

Appeals are usually made before the person leaves the Service, but late appeals may be submitted up to 2 months after the date of retirement.  All appeals must be supported by documented medical evidence and referred to the medical services adviser appointed by the Cabinet Office (OPS) for provisions relating to the PCSPS.  Where the person concerned is unfit to make the appeal personally, a close relative, friend or trade union may appeal on their behalf during the allowed period.  Medical information and the sickness record may be released provided that the person concerned agrees.

11.10.5 The decision of the board is final.

11.10.6 If an appeal against retirement on medical grounds is successful, the person is regarded as having remained on their normal conditions of service.  This means that any superannuation award will be cancelled, and any payment will have to be adjusted retrospectively to give the person the salary to which they would have been entitled during the period.  If the appeal fails, the person is regarded as having been medically retired at the date originally set by the department or agency.”

Example ...





Example ...





Example – A Large Goods Vehicle (LGV) driver develops a condition which leads to the permanent withdrawal of his driving licence but which does not prevent him from working in a wide range of other jobs. His depot offer him a stores job at a lower grade but he is unwilling to accept the consequential financial loss and applies for medical retirement. His medical condition permanently prevents him from discharging the duties of his normal grade and he therefore qualifies for medical retirement.





Example - A senior manager develops severe heart disease which progresses to the point that the only treatment option is a heart transplant. She applies for medical retirement on the basis that she does not feel that she will ever return to her previous role. It is possible that a suitable donor might be found and that after surgery and an extensive rehabilitation programme she might be fit to resume normal day to day activities. However, on a balance of probabilities, the judgement is that she is unlikely ever to be fit to resume her previous high pressure career and medical retirement is therefore appropriate.





Example - A 30 year old man develops a severe depressive illness following the death of his mother. He is admitted to a psychiatric unit and is on extended sick leave. Psychiatric reports indicate that an early return to work cannot be expected and it may be a number of years before be recovers fully. Despite the severity of his symptoms and the operational difficulties caused to his employer he cannot be considered to have incapacitating ill health that is permanent and therefore medical retirement cannot be supported. Such cases should, however, be kept under review by the employer and further assessments made as necessary.
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